Joint Special Meeting of the
Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and
Scrutiny Committee
and the
Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Date
Time
Venue

Monday 16 May 2022
9.30 am
Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham
Business
Part A

Items which are open to the public and press.
Members of the public can ask questions with the Chair’s
agreement, and if registered to speak.
1.

Apologies

2.

Substitute Members

3.

Declarations of Interest

4.

Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties

5.

Transport policy and activity in County Durham and the wider
region
a) Report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy

and Growth (Pages 3 - 6)
b) Presentation by the Head of Transport and Contract

Services, Regeneration, Economy and Growth
(Pages 7 - 30)
6.

Highways, Footways and Bridge Maintenance
a) Report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and

Climate Change (Pages 31- 48)
b) Presentation by Head of Highways Services and Strategic

Highways Manager (Pages 49 - 66)
7.

Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project (SLERP)
a) Report of the Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods and

Climate Change (Pages 67 - 96)

b) Presentation by Head of Highways Services and Strategic

Highways Manager (Pages 97 - 118)
8.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration
Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
6 May 2022

To:

The Members of the Environment and Sustainable Communities
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Councillor B Coult (Chair)
Councillor J Elmer (Vice-Chair)
Councillors E Adam, P Atkinson, L Brown, J Charlton,
L Fenwick, G Hutchinson, C Kay, C Lines, R Manchester,
C Martin, B McAloon, I McLean, D Nicholls, R Potts, J Purvis,
J Quinn, T Stubbs and S Townsend
Co-opted Members
Mr T Bolton and Mrs P Holding
To:

The Members of the Economy and Enterprise Overview
and Scrutiny Committee

Councillor B Moist (Chair)
Councillor A Jackson (Vice-Chair)
Councillors M Abley, A Batey, G Binney, J Cairns, K Earley,
D Haney, C Hood, C Lines, R Manchester, C Marshall, C Martin,
J Miller, R Ormerod, A Reed, I Roberts, A Sterling, A Surtees
and S Wilson
Co-opted Member
Mrs R Morris

Contact: Jill Hogg

Tel: 03000 269711

Agenda Item 5a

Joint Special Meeting of the
Environment and Sustainable
Communities Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and the Economy and
Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny
Committee
16 May 2022
Transport policy and activity in County
Durham and the wider region

Report of Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director, Regeneration, Economy
and Growth.
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide the special meeting of the Environment and Sustainable
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Economy and
Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee with an update on
transport policy and activity in County Durham and the wider region.

Executive summary
2

Transport policy and delivery is shared between numerous activities at
a regional and local level. The presentation attached in appendix 2
provides an overview of partnerships and current issues and activity in
transport.

Recommendation
3

Members of the Committee are asked to note information contained
within this report and presentation accordingly.

Page 3

Background
4

Following discussions with the chairs of the Environment and
Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the
Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee, it was
agreed that a special joint committee would be held to consider issues
such as transport provision in County Durham.

5

Transport policy and delivery are shared at a regional and local level
with regional responsibility being focussed on the North East Joint
Transport Committee. The presentation will explain how these
responsibilities are shared with a focus on active travel, public transport
and transport infrastructure

6

Appendix 2 to this report contains a presentation that provides an
overview of the transport policy and delivery. Dave Wafer, Head of
Transport and Contract Services will be in attendance to deliver the
presentation to the Committee’s meeting and answer any questions.

Conclusion
7

The attached report and presentation provide an opportunity for
Members to consider and comment on the way in which transport policy
is delivered.

Background papers
•

None

Other useful documents
•
Contact:

Page 4

None
Dave Wafer

Tel: 03000 263577

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
None

Finance
None

Consultation
None

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None

Human Rights
None

Climate Change
The presentation outlines ambitions to improve sustainable travel

Crime and Disorder
None

Staffing
None

Accommodation
None

Risk
None

Procurement
None

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Regional and Local Transport
Update
Joint Overview and Scrutiny 16 May 2022

Agenda Item 5b

Page 7

Page 8

Contents
• Current Drivers in Transport
• Regional Transport Plan and the role of Durham County
Council
• Active Travel
• Public Transport - Recent announcements of Bus Service
Improvements Plans
• Transport Infrastructure
• Rail
• County Durham, Our level of Ambition
• Any Questions

Current Drivers in Transport
• National Policy, recent Bus Strategy
• Regional Transport Plan
• County Durham Plan
• Climate Change
• Economic Strategy
• Levelling Up Fund
• Focus Areas such as Bishop Auckland
• Durham Walking and Cycling Strategy
• A Durham Connectivity Strategy ??
Page 9

Page 10

Regional Transport Plan

Regional (via JTC)

County Level

Coordination of Policy and
Infrastructure delivery, Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure
assembly of national funding bids Plans (LCWIPS), Rights of Way Improvement Plans, Active Travel
Promotion and Delivery

Page 11

Formulation of a Bus Service
Improvement Plan and Enhanced
Partnership

Direct engagement with Bus Operators, Infrastructure, Funding and
provision of subsidised services, Concessionary Fares, Home to
School Transport

Coordination with National
Highways, regional projects

Local road improvements, highway maintenance, Network
Management, EV charging infrastructure

Regional rail strategy

Local improvement bids, Restoring Your Railways, Local Delivery

Working to strengthen
connections to the UK and
beyond

Coordination of local delivery

Page 12

Active Travel

Active Travel Policy/Drivers
• Government’s Cycling and Walking Investment Strategy
• Gear Change: A bold vision for cycling and walking' set out by
the Department for Transport’s
• LTN 1/20 standards expected for cycling infrastructure
• Climate Emergency
• Response to Coronavirus pandemic
• Active Travel Fund capital/revenue funding
Page 13

Page 14

Durham Strategic Walking & Cycling
Delivery Plan - Vision & Aims

Building Blocks to create a cycling and walking County
audit, assess, plan, record, design, build.

operate, maintain, improve, refine, enforce.

engage, educate, promote, inspire, motivate, encourage.
Page 15

Page 16

Progress so far
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans (3/9 towns complete)
Counters & Monitoring
Planning & Development
Great North Cycleway
DCC Buildings & Facilities
Active Travel Corridor Newton Aycliffe (complete April/May 2022)
NCN1 improvements (1 million investment complete by September 2022)

•
•
•

Enforcement campaigns
Signage and Crossings
Improvement Programme

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Cycle Parking: ParkThatBike, Installed cycle parking at DCC sites
Town Cycling Maps: 6/12 complete
Borrow a Bike Schemes: 3/5 launched
Groups: updates, promoting events
DCC Staff Schemes
Love to Ride platform: 2/4 campaigns complete in 2022)
Publicity and Information
Living Streets Walking campaigns

Next Steps

Page 17

May-June
• Bike Month
• Launch A167 Active Travel Corridor
• Borrow a Bike schemes launched
• Stanley, Murton& Newton Aycliffe
July-September
• All 12 town LCWIP’s complete
• Completion/Launch improved NCN1 route
• Cycle September Campaign
• Town Maps Complete
• Living Streets WOW projects complete
• Cycle Instructor training courses complete
• Oct – Dec
• Cycle parking at sports centres
• Winter Wheelers

Page 18

Public Transport

BSIP and Enhanced Partnerships Background
•
•

•

National Bus Strategy, Bus Back Better, published 15 March 2021
Set out what LTAs and bus operators must do to continue accessing Covid
recovery funding and to access future transformational funding:
• End of June 2021: Commit to establishing an Enhanced Partnership
• End of October 2021: Publish a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP)
• From April 2022: Have an Enhanced Partnership in place
National Bus Strategy also set out expectations that BSIPs should be
ambitious and transformational with increased levels of bus priority and
drive improvements for passengers

Page 19

Page 20

National Funding
•

Launching National Bus Strategy announcement stated ”backed by £3

billion of investment”
•

•

Nationally 79 BSIPs prepared with estimated funding requirements of circa
£9bn
Transformational funding now available for BSIPs circa £1.2bn. Reduced as
a result of Covid support to LTAs and bus operators, ZEBRA etc

Transport North East BSIP Headlines
•

•
•
•

Page 21

•
•

Customer Experience: Bus stop and real time information improvements,
CCTV provision, On bus next stop announcement and WiFi, Transport
ambassadors at interchanges
Fares and Ticketing: Day fare capping, Under 19s single fare offer,
standardisation of ENCTS offer across the region, care leavers’ concession
Network: More early morning, evening and overnight services, new
tourism services, new demand responsive services, zero emission vehicles
Highways and Infrastructure: Highway interventions on bus corridors,
shelter and stop improvements, new park and ride sites
Other: Marketing, car parking reviews
£804m (£495.6m capital, £123.6m £184.7m revenue)

Page 22

Funding Announcement
•
•

On 4 April DfT announced 31 BSIPs have been selected to receive BSIP
funding including the North East BSIP
Transport North East indicative funding £163,521,172 (total funding from
2022/23 to 2024/25):
•
•

•

•

Capital £73,758,353
Revenue £89,762,819

Funding conditional on submission and implementation of Enhanced
Partnership
Comparator funding awards:
•
•
•

West of England and North Somerset £105.5m
Greater Manchester £94.8m
West Midlands £87.9m

Next Steps
•
•

North East Joint Transport Committee to identify which BSIP schemes to
prioritise for funding
Priorities for Durham:
•
•
•

•
•
•

Making fares more affordable
Schemes that support tourism and City of Culture ambitions
Demand responsive transport in rural areas

Page 23

By 2 May: Submit funding summary table to DfT
During May: DfT feedback discussion on summary table
By end of June: Submission of updated funding summary table to DfT, draft
EP

Page 24

Transport Infrastructure

Transport Infrastructure
• Currently Delivering over £70 million of transport
projects including
• Transforming Cities projects
• Housing Infrastructure Fund, Newton Aycliffe
• Jade Enterprise Zone and A19/A182 Junction
• Bishop Auckland Bus Station and Car Park
• Durham Bus Station
• A19 Seaton Lane (B1404/A1018)
Page 25

Page 26

Rail

Rail

Page 27

County Durham
• Three Successful Restoring Your Railway bids
• Ferryhill Station and the Stillington, Consett and Bishop Auckland
North East Rail and Metro Strategy
• Consultation closed 11th April with 994 responses.
Emerging themes of the consultation responses
• Large amount focusing on the extensions, with West Gateshead / West
Newcastle and Washington being key.
• Integration between different transport – best way for modal shift.
• Support for line electrification – there’s a view this would be cheaper than
alternatives
• Public response that modal shift would lessen the environmental impact by
taking cars off the road

Page 28

Our Level of Ambition
• Successful in attracting 3 Restoring Your Railways bids, the only ones
in the North East
• Helped the region attract the largest BSIP settlement in the Country
• Successful Round 1 Levelling Up Fund bid with a package of £31
million of mainly transport projects, national exemplar
• Further Levelling Up Bids to help deliver more active travel benefits
• Delivering £70 million of approved transports projects
• Continued commitment to EV charging with and ambition to fit a
minimum of 100 charge points across County
• The combination of the above could see up to £200 million invested
in Transport in County Durham

Any Questions

Page 29

This page is intentionally left blank

Joint Special Meeting of the
Environment and Sustainable
Communities Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and the Economy and
Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

Agenda Item 6a

16 May 2022
Highways Asset Management

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods
and Climate Change
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide background information to Members of the Environment and
Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee in relation to
highways asset management service delivery.

Executive summary
2

Members will be provided with current data in relation to highways
maintenance within the county together with relevant performance data.

3

The overall highway maintenance backlog is reducing and stands at
£171.2m.

4

The overall condition of the classified network remains quite static.
However, the condition of the unclassified road network where
maintenance should be considered is at 22.5%.

5

The percentage of footways that are classified at requiring maintenance
is 22.5%.

6

Structures conditions tend to be steady and continue to be monitored
using a more robust inspection regime.

7

Street lighting columns replacement is a continued project and over time
columns will be replaced accordingly to improve the overall age of the
asset.

8

Independent public satisfaction surveys demonstrates that the overall
satisfaction in highways is generally above the North East and the
national average.
Page 31

Recommendations
9

It is recommended that:
•

The Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and
Scrutiny Committee note and comment on the information provided
in the presentation; and

•

The Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and
Scrutiny Committee include in its future work programme for
2022/23 a progress update on highways maintenance in the
county.

Background
10

At the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny
Committee held in February 2021, the committee received a report
providing an overview in relation to highways in the county. The report
contained data in relation to the condition of highway assets,
maintenance backlog and public satisfaction. However, the data available
was dated 2019/20.

11

It was therefore agreed by Members at that meeting that the committee
include in its work programme for 2022/23 a further highways assets
management report which would include current data and provide
Members with an overview footway maintenance within the county and
relevant performance data.

12

Arrangements have been made for Paul Watson, Strategic Highways
Manager, to attend the meeting on 16th May 2022 to deliver a
presentation on highways management and to provide an update on the
SLERP II project.

Highways Maintenance
13

The Highways Act 1980 sets out the main duties of a local highway
authority in respect of highways maintenance. In particular, Section 41
imposes a duty to maintain the adopted highway at public expense.

14

The Highways Act does not specify the level of maintenance although
national Codes of Practice offer guidance in line with best practice. The
purpose of highway maintenance is to maintain the highway network for
the safe and convenient movement of people and goods.

15

The highway network is the council’s largest and highest value asset. It is
used every day by nearly all County Durham residents and businesses

Page 32

together with many visitors. The highway network is therefore
fundamental to economic and social activity in County Durham.

Service Delivery Model
16

The current service delivery model for highway construction,
maintenance and design is in-house plus top up which is alternatively
known as a mixed economy model. This comprises of an in-house
Highways Services team supplemented by a competitively procured
supply chain of external sub-contractors and joint procurement exercises
through the North East Highways Alliance (NEHA). Approximately 50% of
Highway Services work is delivered by in-house staff with 50% delivered
through the supply chain.

17

In addition to highway maintenance, the Highway Services team delivers
highway improvement and civil engineering works on behalf of the
council.

18

The Strategic Highways team undertake the client, policy, capital budget
and asset management functions in relation to highway maintenance.

Inventory
19

The inventory is a database containing details of the individual assets
that make up the highway network. It is vital to know what assets exist
and where so they can be inspected, surveyed and maintained to
appropriate service levels.

20

The 2020/21 inventory is summarised in the table below:
Asset

Unit

Carriageway
A
Km
B
Km
C
Km
Unclassified
Km
Sub-Total
Drainage
Gullies
Number
Structures
Road bridges
Number
Footbridges
Number
Street lighting
Columns/
Number
Lanterns
Lit Signs
Number
Traffic Management

Adopted

DCC
Private
Unadopted Unadopted
0
0
0
117
117

Total

415
406
695
2,287
3,803

0
0
0
18
18

415
406
695
2,422
3,938

110,633

1,371

487
51

0
455

0
0

487
506

82,423

0

0

82,423

5,737

0

0

5,737

3,864 115,868

Page 33

Traffic lights
Pedestrian
crossings
Unlit signs
PROW/
bridleway signs

Number

69

0

0

69

Number

73

0

0

73

Number

63,460

808

2,277

66,381

Number

4,312

0

0

4,312

Highway Maintenance Plan
21

The Highway Maintenance Plan sets out service levels for safety
inspections, service inspections, condition surveys, reactive maintenance
and routine maintenance.

22

The main types of highway maintenance are:

Type of Maintenance
Reactive
Routine
Programmed

Description
Responding to inspections, complaints, or
emergencies
Regular consistent schedule, generally for patching,
cleaning, grass cutting and landscape maintenance
Flexibly planned schemes primarily of resurfacing,
reconditioning and reconstruction

Highway Safety Inspection Regime
23

The council is committed to ensuring that the adopted highway is
maintained in a safe condition as far as reasonably practicable. All
adopted roads and footpaths in County Durham are inspected by the
team of Highway Inspectors at a frequency appropriate to their usage
which varies between 2 weeks and 12 months. Defects are assessed
against intervention criteria set out in the Highway Safety Inspection
Manual and reactive repairs are undertaken to those defects which
exceed the intervention criteria in accordance with the response times set
out in the Highway Maintenance Plan.

24

The council’s Highway Safety Inspection Manual and Highway
Maintenance Plan are aligned with the National Code of Practice.

25

The council also rely on reports from the public to identify highway
defects that may arise in between scheduled safety inspections. These
should be reported to the Customer Services team by one of the following
routes:

Page 34

•

website: http:/www.durham.gov.uk

•

email: help@durham.gov.uk; or

•

telephone: 03000 261000.

Condition Surveys
26

Condition surveys are primarily intended to identify deficiencies in the
highway fabric which, if untreated, are likely to adversely affect its longterm performance and serviceability.

27

Condition surveys help determine programmed maintenance subject to
the TAMP and available budgets.

28

The types of survey undertaken and frequencies are as follows:

Asset
A - Roads

Survey
Surface Condition
Assessment for the
National Network of
Roads (SCANNER)

Frequency
100% surveyed in one
direction only annually
100% surveyed in one
direction only annually
100% surveyed in one
direction only annually
One direction surveyed
annually

Coarse Visual Inspection
(CVI)
Footway Network Survey
(FNS)
Skid Resistance – using
Sideway-force
Coefficient Routine
Investigation Machine
(SCRIM)

Minimum 25% annually

All locations

Vehicle Restraint
Systems

All highway structures
with a span > 1.5m
All principal road
network and other
significant structures

Structures – General
Inspections
Structures – Principal
Inspections

On a 2-year cycle if more
than 10 years old or a 5
year cycle if less than 10
years old
Every 2 years

Any structure identified
through the general
inspection or from
reports

Structures – Special
Inspections

B - Roads
C – Roads
Unclassified Roads
(Cat 3a, 3b, 4a bus
routes only)
Unclassified Roads
Footway Hierarchy 1,
1a, 2, 3, 4
Carriageway Hierarchy
2 & 3a
Carriageway Hierarchy
3b, 4a and 4b

Minimum 25% annually
Annually

Not routinely undertaken

Frequency varies
between 6 and 12 years
depending upon risk
assessment
As required

Page 35

All structures on rivers
subject to fast
changing environment
or deep water
29

Underwater Inspections

Every 2 years or
following severe flood
conditions

Despite the country being in the middle of a national pandemic due to
Covid 19, we were still able to comply with national guidelines in respect
of social distancing and continued with inspections and experienced
minimal delays.

Transport Asset Management Plan
30

The Transport Asset Management Plan (TAMP) sets out the council’s
long-term plan for managing the highway asset by applying programmed
capital maintenance subject to available budgets to maintain the
condition of the highway. The TAMP applies asset management
principles to ensure that the right maintenance treatment is selected at
the right time to ensure a safe, serviceable and sustainable highway
network.

31

The TAMP aims to minimise whole life costs but this is not always
possible as budget constraints may result in not all the right treatments
being undertaken at the right time particularly where there is an existing
maintenance backlog. In this case the budget is prioritised based on the
following criteria:
•

safety;

•

return on investment; and

•

network hierarchy.

32

The council was the first highway authority in the United Kingdom to
achieve British Standard BS ISO 55001:2014 Asset Management in 2015
and this quality management system underpins the council’s asset
management approach.

33

In October 2021, Durham County Council received a full reaccreditation
of its ISO 55001:2014 Asset Management achievement. This
demonstrated the continued use of asset management principles in the
day-to-day delivery of the highways function.

Condition
34

Page 36

Condition is summarised as follows for the major asset groups:

Asset
Carriageway
A – Roads
B – Roads
C – Roads
Unclassified
Roads

All Roads

Footways

Structures

Street
Lighting

Description

% where
maintenance
should be
considered
% where
maintenance
should be
considered
% where
maintenance
should be
considered
%
structurally
unsound
Bridge
Condition
Index –
Principal
roads
Bridge
Condition
Index – NonPrincipal
Roads
Other (using
form of
Bridge
Condition
Index)
% columns
> 40 years
% lanterns >
20 years
% lit signs
where
replacement
should be
considered

2017

2018

2019

2.6 %
4.7%
3.7%

2.6%
4.7%
3.7%

3.0%
3.3%
2.3%

Performance
Good
Fair
2020 Condition Condition
Target
Target
3.1%
3.0%
2.6%

0.0%
0.0%
0.0%

4.0%
4.0%
4.0%

20.0% 21.0% 21.3% 22.5%

0.0%

8.0%

13.5% 14.1% 11.7% 11.1%

0.0%

6.4%

22.8% 21.5% 20.9% 22.5%

0.0%

5.0%

80.0

80.7

81.1

82.0

100.0

95.0

81.0

79.9

80.1

81.0

100.0

95.0

66.0

66.0

66.0

66.0

100.0

85.0

15.3% 13.3% 13.9% 14.1%

0.0%

5.0%

18.3% 15.8% 15.3% 15.4%

0.0%

5.0%

17.1% 17.1% 17.1% 17.1%

0.0%

5.0%

Page 37

35

The good condition target represents where the maintenance backlog will
be zero with no defects. This is an ideal theoretical target which is not
realistic in practice.

36

The fair condition target represents a realistic target of acceptable
condition subject to available funding.

37

The condition of the A, B, and C roads is good overall. The condition of
unclassified roads remains constant, but the high percentage requiring
treatment remains a key issue.

38

The condition of footways is showing a gradual improvement but still
remains a key issue.

Highway Structures Condition
39

The condition of the bridge stock is measured by the use of a Bridge
Condition Indicator (BCI). This provides a measure of the physical
condition of the highway bridge stock.

40

The annual condition is determined by improvement works carried out
during the year together with the annual inspection of the stock
undertaken that year which will determine its rate of deterioration.

41

The BCI scores range from 100 (best possible condition) to 0 (worst
possible condition) and can be interpreted broadly as the “percentage
service potential” of a structure. Thus, a value of 100 implies that the
structure has retained 100% of its service potential; a value of 60 implies
that the structure has lost 40% of its service potential; while a value of 0
implies that the structure is no longer serviceable.

42

Durham County Council uses the Bridge Condition Indicators developed
by the County Surveyors Society and Highways England. The severity,
extent and priority of defects on highway structures are recorded as part
of the principal and general inspections which are used to produce
Condition Indicators for individual structural elements on a bridge, for a
bridge as a whole and finally for the overall inventory of highway bridges.

43

The following table explains the range of BCI scores in more detail:
BCI Range
90 ≤ x ≤ 100
80 ≤ x < 90

Page 38

Comments
Bridge stock is in a very good condition. Very few bridges
may be in a moderate to severe condition.
Bridge stock is in a good condition. Some bridges may be
in a severe condition. Potential for rapid decrease in
condition if sufficient maintenance funding is not provided.
Minor to moderate backlog of maintenance work.

65 ≤ x < 80

Bridge stock is in a fair condition. A number of bridges may
be in a severe condition. Maintenance work historically
underfunded and there is a moderate to large backlog of
maintenance work. Essential work dominates spending.
Bridge stock is in a poor condition. Many bridges may be in
a severe condition. Maintenance work historically
significantly underfunded and there is a large to very large
backlog of maintenance work. A significant number of
structures likely to be closed have temporary measures in
place or other risk mitigation measures. Essential work
dominates spending.
Bridge stock is in very poor condition. Many bridges may
be unserviceable or close to it. Historical maintenance work
grossly underfunded and a very large maintenance
backlog. Only essential maintenance work performed.
Many structures likely to be closed have temporary
measures in place or other risk mitigation measures. All
spend likely to be on essential maintenance.

40 ≤ x < 65

0 ≤ x < 40

44

The overall average condition of the bridge stock is good. However,
further investment is required to maintain the bridge stock in a “steady
state” condition.

45

Technical Services prepared a structures maintenance bid the
Department for Transport’s Challenge Fund and were awarded £5million
for the repair of New Elvet Bridge. This scheme commenced In the
Summer of 2020 and was completed in October 2021.

Footway Condition
46

The Council carries out a variety of maintenance schemes throughout the
year to deliver a safe, serviceable and sustainable network. These
include:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

Minor patching works
Footpath surface treatments
Resurfacing works
Full reconstruction.

47

Cyclic safety inspections are carried out to specific frequencies that are
determined by a number of local factors including traffic volume and
composition, use with particular reference to the vulnerable, importance
of the route to access local facilities, accident history and traffic sensitivity

48

Safety inspections are undertaken by a team of 16 Highways Inspectors
who complete over 11,000 cyclic planned inspections each year

Page 39

throughout the County. The frequency is identified in the Highway Safety
Inspection Manual after taking into account the factors detailed above.
Category Name

Description

Frequency

1a

Prestige
Walking Zone

Very busy areas of towns and cities with
high public space and streetscene
contribution

2 weekly

1

Primary Walking
Routes

Busy urban shopping and business
areas and main pedestrian routes.

1 month

2

Secondary
Walking Routes

Medium use routes through local areas
feeding into primary routes, local
shopping centres.

3 months

3

Link Footways

Linking local access footways through
urban areas and busy rural footways.

6 months

4

Local Access
Footways

Footways associated with low use, short
estate roads to the main routes and culde-sacs.

1 year

49

The Highway Inspector will then apply a risk-based approach to initiating
a repair of the identified defect based on their local knowledge, the
number and composition of road users and the risk of injury. The defect is
then identified for repair within agreed response times as detailed in the
Highway Safety Inspection Manual.

50

Footpath inspections assist in the development of future capital footpath
works alongside the Footway Network Surveys, reported CRNs, third
party highway claims and member queries.

51

An annual programme of footway capital works is identified and approved
to provide a longer lasting, relatively maintenance free, safe and
sustainable surface for pedestrians.

Maintenance Backlog
52

The maintenance backlog is the value of maintenance required to bring
the highway asset up to good condition. Good condition represents where
the maintenance backlog will be zero with no defects. This is an ideal
theoretical target which is not realistic in practice and therefore nearly
every highway authority has a significant maintenance backlog.

53

The maintenance backlog for the adopted highway over the past 5 years
is summarised as follows:

Page 40

Maintenance Backlog
Carriageways
Strengthen
Resurface
Surface Improvement
Edge Improvement
Sub-Total
Kerbing
Drainage
Road Markings
Footways
Reconstruction
Overlay/Relay/Flagging
Repair/Relay
Surface Improvement
Sub-Total
Structures
Street Lighting
Column Replacements
Luminaire Replacements
Lit sign Replacements
Sub-Total
Traffic Management
Street Furniture
Total

£Millions
2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

13.0
27.5
13.0
3.8
59.2
18.4
5.6
0.9

9.1
22.0
18.5
3.2
57.3
18.5
5.6
0.9

5.7
16.1
27.6
3.3
52.8
18.5
5.6
0.9

5.5
12.1
31.4
2.6
52.7
18.5
5.6
0.9

6.1
15.6
28.4
2.2
52.3
18.4
5.6
0.9

21.7
6.2
17.0
2.6
47.5
36.0

17.4
5.6
19.0
2.8
44.8
42.0

16.3
5.7
15.5
3.0
40.5
40.6

15.8
5.2
20.1
4.1
35.1
40.6

15.3
5.1
20.5
4.0
34.9
38.8

12.5
8.3
1.3
22.1
1.0
2.8
191.7

12.7
5.3
1.3
19.2
1.0
2.8
187.6

11.3
4.6
1.2
17.1
1.0
2.8
179.7

11.6
4.3
1.3
17.2
1.0
2.8
172.6

11.8
4.1
1.3
17.2
1.0
2.1
171.2

54

As can be seen from the above, the maintenance backlog in relation to
carriageways, footways and street lighting has reduced since 2016.

55

However, the maintenance backlog for structures has risen. This is due
mainly to improved condition data more accurately reflecting the condition
of bridges.

56

The council’s maintenance backlog is broadly in line with other councils
on average taking into account the size of the highway network.

Public Satisfaction
57

The council participates in the National Highways & Transportation (NHT)
Public Satisfaction Survey which is undertaken by IPSOS/MORI.

58

The survey is conducted every 2 years.

59

The results are summarised as follows:

Page 41

Key
% Public Satisfied (Year)
Benchmark
Indicator (KBI) 2009 2010 2011 2012 2014 2016
Overall
KBI 01 - Overall (local)
Durham
57.9 55.9 54.6
58.4
57.0 58.0
County Council
North East
58.7 57.8 55.5
57.9
57.5 57.0
National
56.2 56.2 55.4
55.9
55.3 55.0
Average
KBI 02 - Overall (national)
Durham
57.8 55.8 54.4
58.3
57.0 58.0
County Council
North East
58.6 57.7 55.4
57.8
57.4 57.0
National
56.2 56.2 55.4
55.9
55.3 55.0
Average
Highway Maintenance
KBI 23 - Condition of highways
Durham
45.1 37.5 33.8
37.7
38.2 45.0
County Council
North East
46.6 40.3 32.6
38.4
37.5 41.0
National
42.8 38.6 34.7
36.6
34.4 38.0
Average
KBI 24 - Highway maintenance
Durham
55.1 48.3 46.2
47.8 49.4
55.0
County Council
North East
54.8 50.7 47.0
49.1 49.4
53.0
National
52.1 50.2 49.3
49.0 49.4
53.0
Average
KBI 25 - Street lighting
Durham
72.8 70.6 70.6
72.9
69.7 65.0
County Council
North East
72.9 72.6 70.8
71.1
70.3 68.0
National
68.1 68.8 68.2
67.4
66.9 66.0
Average
KBI 26 - Highway enforcement/obstructions
Durham
51.9 47.9 49.3
49.8
47.7 50.0
County Council
North East
52.2 51.0 50.3
51.0
48.5 50.0
National
50.6 50.5 52.2
50.4
48.2 49.0
Average

2018

2020

57.0

55.0

56.0
53.0

54.0
54.0

57.0

55.0

56.0
53.0

54.0
54.0

38.0

41.0

33.0
31.0

36.0
36.0

53.0

51.0

51.0
51.0

50.0
50.0

62.0

60.0

67.0
65.0

64.0
64.0

51.0

47.0

50.0
49.0

45.0
45.0

60

The results above show that the council is above the national and North
East average for all but one of the above indicators.

61

Street lighting satisfaction has declined, and this is believed to be due to
the Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project. A lot of residents object to

Page 42

the removals which are proving to be controversial and a small proportion
of residents object to the new LED lights which reduce light spillage
which used to light up their properties.

Budget
62

The budget for programmed capital maintenance is summarised as
follows:

Funding
Stream
DFT
Local Transport
Plan

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

10,679

10,132

9,780

11,886

10,896

10,567

9,564

9,564

9,564

Challenge Fund

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4,000

Incentive Fund

0

0

0

0

666

1,016

2,008

1,992

1,992

Section 31
Severe Weather

0
0

1,836
0

1,007
1,242

0
1,100

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

Potholes Fund

0

0

2,197

0

784

1,580

1,297

662

8,448

Productivity
Fund
Additional
Highway
Maintenance
Fund
Sub-Total
Highway
Maintenance
Total

0

0

0

0

0

1,830

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

5,269

0

0

10,679
3,012

11,968
2,912

14,226
5,404

12,986
4,811

12,346
6,911

14,993
9,054

18,138
7,486

12,218
8,864

24,004
10,431

13,691

14,880

19,630

17,797

19,257

24,047

25,624

21,082

34,435

63

Despite unprecedented reductions in government funding since 2010, the
council has protected and continued to prioritise investment in
programmed capital maintenance.

64

The DfT provides the majority of the funding for programmed capital
maintenance. This funding is not ring-fenced but the council has always
allocated it fully to highway maintenance and every opportunity is taken
to secure additional funding.

Investment Levels
65

The TAMP measures the current and projected condition of the asset for
a given level of investment in programmed capital maintenance.

66

The council have modelled the following investment levels as stated in
the policy:

Page 43

Investment Level –
Programmed Capital
Maintenance

Projected Budget
Steady State Condition
Eliminate highway maintenance
backlog over 1 year then
maintain at steady state
condition
Eliminate highway maintenance
backlog over 30 years then
maintain at steady state
condition

1 April 2017 Prices (£ millions)
One Off
Annual
Annual
Capital Cost
Average
Average
Capital Cost Capital Cost
(Once
Backlog
Cleared)
N/A
£17.8
N/A
N/A
£20.8
N/A
£171.2
N/A
£20.3

N/A

£27.9

£20.3

67

The projected budget is an indicative annualised figure of the expected
budget and the actual budget may be greater or less depending upon DfT
and council funding.

68

The steady state condition investment level is where the budget is set to
keep the current condition constant after allowing for annual average
deterioration. The steady state condition investment level is calculated
using nationally accredited lifecycle planning models which are based on
current condition projected forward for average annual deterioration over
a period of 30 years.

Department for Transport’s Incentive Fund
69

The council has achieved the maximum Band 3 efficiency rating under
the DfT’s Incentive Fund which was introduced in 2020. Durham was one
of only two highway authorities to achieve this maximum efficiency rating
out of 119 participating highway authorities in England in 2016 and has
maintained the maximum Band 3 efficiency rating in 2020. This rating will
help ensure the council maximises funding from the DfT’s Incentive Fund
going forward.

70

The council was praised by Andrew Jones MP, Parliamentary Under
Secretary of State for Transport, at a speech to the Road Surface
Transport Association Conference on 7 April 2016:
“I would particularly like to mention what we now know are the two top
performing Highway Authorities in the country; Durham and Lincolnshire.
They scored highly against all 22 criteria and they will receive the
maximum possible funding. I would urge the other Authorities to look

Page 44

closely at how Durham and Lincolnshire are running such an efficient
operation.”
“Places like Durham and Lincolnshire are showing what’s possible. By
following their lead, we’ll have a better road network that better meets the
needs of the nation”.

North East Highway Alliance
71

The council has led the development and implementation of the North
East Highways Alliance which was formally established in September
2013. This is a forum for collaborative working for all 12 North East
councils. The North East Highways Alliance has delivered a number of
initiatives that are helping all councils involved, including Durham,
maximise efficiencies in highways through collaborative procurement and
knowledge sharing.

72

This partnership working together with ongoing collaborative working of
the in-house Highway Services team with the supply chain of
competitively procured external sub-contractors has led to the council
being one of the first in the UK to be awarded British Standard BS11000
– Collaborative Business Relationships.

Plastic Roads and Rubber Crumb Surfacing
73

The Council has continued working with Rainton Construction in ensuring
that plastic and rubber crumb is used in surfacing schemes throughout
the county.

74

The Council continues to review opportunities for further improvement
and innovation including the use of new materials.

75

The council continues to review opportunities for further improvement and
innovation including the use of new materials. These were the first trials
in the North East and the largest undertaken nationally at the time.

76

Using plastic and rubber crumb in roads reduces the amount of bitumen
required in the binder. The benefits of this are:
•

provide an outlet for single use plastic and rubber that would
otherwise be sent to landfill or incinerated; and

•

reduces the amount of bitumen required which reduces fossil fuels
and carbon emissions and thus contributing to arresting climate
change.

Page 45

Conclusion
77

The report provides a comprehensive update on how highway
maintenance is managed and delivered in County Durham.

78

This includes the key policies, inventory, condition, maintenance,
backlog, funding and performance.

79

The report also explains the detailed spend and rationale behind the
monitoring of condition, repair and maintenance for footways.

Background papers
•

Highway-Maintenance-Plan
Transport Asset Management Plan

•

TAMP Section 1

•

TAMP Section 2

Other useful documents
•
Contact:

Page 46

None
Paul Watson

Tel: 03000 268166

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Durham County Council, as the local Highway Authority, has a statutory duty
under the Highways Act 1980 to maintain the adopted highway at public
expense.

Finance
As detailed in the report.

Consultation
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Climate Change
Resurfacing schemes use plastic and rubber crumb from tyres in their
manufacture. This reduces the amount of bitumen needed to bind surfaces,
thus reducing fossil fuels and carbon emissions and contributes to the Council’s
efforts to arrest climate change.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
Highway maintenance is delivered by the Council’s in-house Highway Services
team supported by a supply chain of competitively procured external subcontractors.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
None.

Procurement

Page 47

External sub-contractors are procured through a competitive tendering process
which is reviewed on a regular basis to ensure value for money is achieved.

Page 48

Highways Asset Management

Agenda Item 6b

Page 49

Environment and Sustainable
Communities Overview and Scrutiny
16th May 2022

Page 50

Introduction

Highways Act 1980 places a duty on the Local Highway Authority to maintain the adopted
highway as outlined in section 41.
The Highway Maintenance Plan sets out the Council’s inspection, condition survey,
reactive and routine maintenance service levels

The Transport Asset Management Plan (TAMP) sets out the long term plan for managing
the highway asset by applying programmed maintenance

Highway Inventory

Page 51

Page 52

Policy Implementation
• DCC has developed a Highway Safety Inspection
Manual (HSIM) aligned to the National Code of
Practice (CoP) for Well Managed Highway
Infrastructure to ensure we adhere to our statutory
duty.

Safe, serviceable and sustainable network.

Inspections and Assessments

To comply with policy we undertake inspections that assess the
safety of the asset and the condition to help inform what
treatment is required to prolong its life in a serviceable condition.

Page 53

Condition Surveys
Page 54

Asset

Survey

Frequency

A - Roads

Surface Condition Assessment for
the National Network of Roads
(SCANNER)

100% surveyed in one direction only
annually
100% surveyed in one direction only
annually
100% surveyed in one direction only
annually
One direction surveyed annually

Coarse Visual Inspection (CVI)
Footway Network Survey (FNS)

Minimum 25% annually
Minimum 25% annually

Skid Resistance – using Sidewayforce Coefficient Routine
Investigation Machine (SCRIM)

Annually

All locations

Vehicle Restraint Systems

All highway structures with a span > 1.5m

Structures – General Inspections

On a 2 year cycle if more than 10
years old or a 5 year cycle if less
than 10 years old
Every 2 years

All principal road network and other
significant structures

Structures – Principal Inspections

Any structure identified through the
general inspection or from reports
All structures on rivers subject to fast
changing environment or deep water

Structures – Special Inspections

B - Roads
C – Roads
Unclassified Roads (Cat 3a, 3b, 4a bus
routes only)
Unclassified Roads
Footway Hierarchy 1, 1a, 2, 3, 4

Carriageway Hierarchy 2 & 3a
Carriageway Hierarchy 3b, 4a and 4b

Underwater Inspections

Not routinely undertaken

Frequency varies between 6 and 12
years depending upon risk
assessment
As required
Every 2 years or following severe
flood conditions

Highway Inspections
Inspection
Type
Safety
inspection

Service
inspection

Page 55

Description

Assets/Routes

Safety inspections are
designed to identify all
defects that are likely to
create danger or serious
inconvenience to users of
the network or the wider
community
Service inspections are
detailed inspections
tailored to the
requirements of particular
highway assets to ensure
that they meet
requirements for
serviceability

Carriageways, Footways
and Cycle Routes

Street Lighting,
Structures, Highway
Trees, Traffic Signals

Page 56

Safety Inspections
• Over 11,000 cyclic safety inspections are carried out to
specific frequencies by 16 qualified Highway Inspectors.
• Inspection frequencies are determined by a number of
factors including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Category within the highway network
Character and traffic volume
Current and proposed usage
Routes to important local facilities (schools, hospitals etc..) and to the
strategic network
Traffic sensitive routes
Accident history
Vulnerable users or people with special needs
Local knowledge / expertise

Types of defects

Page 57

Page 58

Defect Repair Categories
In accordance with the Highway Safety Inspection Manual
each defect is given a repair category based on the
danger/potential danger and the hierarchy of the highway:
• 2 hours/immediate repair- Category 1.1 defect
• 72 hours - Category 1.2 defect
• 14 days – Category 2.1 defect
• 3 months – Category 2.2 defect

Inspections Data
• 51,501 defects reported/recorded in the last 12 months.
This is through CRMs, Highway Inspections.
• Defects include potholes, ironwork, kerbing, edge
deterioration.
• Amount spent repairing defects = £2.6m

Page 59

Page 60

Asset Condition
• Assets are inspected and evaluated to determine their
condition.
• Some in-house surveys for lighting and structures.
• Majority are independently assessed in accordance with
Codes of Practice and industry standards.
• Asset conditions are reported annually to the Department
for Transport and Cabinet.

Major Groups - Asset Condition Headlines
Classified Roads where maintenance should be considered
A – 3.1%
B – 3.0%
C – 2.6%
Fair condition target 4%
Unclassified Roads – 22.5% against a fair condition target of 8.0%
Footways – 22.5% against a fair condition target of 5.0%

Page 61

Bridges – 82% on principal roads and 81% on non-principal roads against
a target of 95%

Page 62

Highways Assets - Performance
• DfT Incentive Fund:
− Maximum Band 3 rating maintained in the last
4 years
• ISO 55001:2014 Asset Management
• National Highways and Transportation (NHT)
Public Satisfaction Survey
− Above National and North East average for 5
out of 6 indicators

Innovation - Environmental Performance.
Plastic Roads and Rubber Crumb
DCC working in partnership with Rainton Construction to
use plastic and rubber crumb in surfacing schemes.
• Outlet for single use plastics and rubber
• Reduces amount of bitumen required which impacts on the
amount of fuel required.
• Recycled road materials.

Page 63

Page 64

Innovation - GOVTECH
• DCC working in partnership Blaenau-Gwent and two
external companies through a DfT funded project.
• Assist with defect identification, assessing network
condition and ultimately scheme identification.
• Daily monitoring of condition.
• Reduces the need to review 800 sites per annum.
• Significant fuel, cost and staff time savings.

Highway Claims
• Strong policy provides DCC with a robust defence
against third part claims.
• Asset management is fundamental to reducing claims.
• Recognised by DCC insurers the processes and
procedures we implement to defend claims.

Page 65

Page 66

Thank you –
Any questions?

Joint Special Meeting of the
Environment and Sustainable
Communities Overview and Scrutiny
Committee and the Economy and
Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

Agenda Item 7a

16 May 2022
Street Lighting Energy Reduction
Project II Update (SLERP)

Report of Alan Patrickson, Corporate Director of Neighbourhoods
and Climate Change
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide Environment and Sustainable
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a mid-project review of
SLERP 2 - Year 2 (2021/2022) regarding retrofit installations, confirm the
cumulative position year to date and comment on energy savings, carbon
reduction and financial information.

Executive Summary
2.

SLERP 2 is a 3 year invest to save project that commenced in 2020/2021 and
is programmed to retrofit 17,328 streetlights with energy efficient LED’s.
2022/23 is the final year of the project.

3.

The project is funded through invest to save capital funding with payback from
the revenue energy budget over a 25-year period.

4.

Currently at the Year 2 mid-project review the project is progressing well despite
project delays because of Covid-19 and some issues with component
deliveries.

5.

The project delivery (retrofit installations) and capital funding payback have
been reprofiled to reflect performance to date.

6.

The project is still anticipated to complete in the original 3-year timescale.

Page 67

Recommendation
7. That the Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny

Committee note the report and its contents, and the committee receive an end
of project update once the overall scheme is completed in 2023.

Background
8.

The Street Lighting Energy Reduction (SLERP) project has been delivered in
2 phases, SLERP 1 which was a 6 year invest to save project which converted
59,851 streetlights with energy efficient LED’s. The project has been the
biggest single contributor to date to the Council’s reduction in carbon
emissions.

9.

SLERP 2 is a 3 year invest to save project which commenced 2020/2021 and
is programmed to retrofit 17,328 streetlights with energy efficient LED’s.

10.

Following the completion of both projects there will remain a number of
streetlights which have not been retrofitted as these units at this current point
in time exceed the Council’s invest to save criteria.

11.

Appendix 2 details the December 2012 SLERP I Cabinet Report.

12.

Appendix 3 details the end of SLERP I project report.

Retrofit Installations
13.

In Year 1 (2020/2021) of SLERP 2 the original retrofit installation target of
4,618 was not achieved as a result of Covid 19 and component deliveries.
The actual retrofit installations were 1,986 resulting in an under achievement
of 2,632, this figure was carried forward into Year 2 (2021/2022) increasing
the original target of 6,575 to 9,207.

14.

The SLERP 2 project at the Year 2 mid-year position confirmed that the sixmonthly target for retrofit installations has been achieved. Target 4,706
against 4,979 actual retrofit installations.

15.

The cumulative retrofit installation target for Year 2 (2021/2022) is 9,207 units.
Progress in Quarters 3 and 4 of Year 2 has been severely affected by the
worldwide shortage of semiconductor components and has resulted in 7,394
retrofits being completed, 1,813 behind target.

16.

The Year 2 (2021/2022) under achievement of 1,813 retrofit installations will
be included in the Year 3 (2022/2023) target, increasing the original target of
6,135 to 7,948 retrofit installations.

Page 68

17.

The table below summaries this data:
Year

Target Installs

Completed /
Projected Installs

Year End Position

2020/2021

4,618

1,986

Under achieved by
2,632

2021/2022

9,207

7,394

Projected under
achievement of
1,813

Projected 7,948

Project planned to
complete on target

Project Duration 3
Years

Anticipate
completing on time

(6,575 + 2,632
carryover)
2022/2023

7,948
(6,135 + 1,813
carryover)

Project Total

18.

17,328

Although the revised target for Year 3 (2022/2023) is ambitious, it is
anticipated at this moment in time that the overall project will still complete in
the original 3-year project timeline (March 2023).

Energy Savings
19.

As a consequence of an underachievement in retrofit installations at the end of
Year 2 the cumulative annualised target of 2,838,548 kWh’s energy savings
has not been achieved. The energy savings achieved are 2,554,939 kWh’s,
an underachievement of 2,838,548 kWh’s behind the cumulative target.

20.

The average annualised consumption saving target for the 17,328 units is
253.72kWh. Owing to advances in LED technology, the average actual
consumption saving of the 9,380 retrofits completed to date is, however,
302.23kWh, an increased saving of 48.51kWh per unit.

Page 69

21.

The graph below outlines this data:

Carbon Reduction
22.

As a consequence of an underachievement in retrofit installations at the end of
Year 2 the cumulative annualised target of 865 tonnes reduction in CO2 has
not been achieved. The CO2 savings achieved are 584 tonnes, an
underachievement of 281 tonnes behind the cumulative target.

23.

Carbon conversion factors have reduced by 17% since the submission of the
original business case based on the sustainable energy generation;
consequently the carbon reduction savings are further impacted.

Page 70

24.

The graph below outlines this data:

Electricity Cost Savings
25.

As a consequence of an underachievement in retrofit installations at the end of
Year 2 the cumulative annualised savings target of £493,468 has not been
achieved. The cumulative savings achieved are £337,852, an
underachievement of £155,616 behind the cumulative target.

26.

The electricity rates have been lower than those used in the original business
case following a corporate procurement tender process, however rates have
now changed from a daily flat rate to separate rates for night/ day
consumption and increased by 72% and 112%.

Page 71

27.

The graph below outlines this data:

Payback
28.

As a consequence of an underachievement in retrofit installations at the end of
Year 2 the payback on the invest to save project has been reprogrammed
accordingly. Payback on this invest to save project is linked directly to capital
spend, the detail below confirms the current payback profile based on
performance to date.

29.

Invest to save payback is comprised of time limited reductions (25 years) in
the revenue energy budget for Street Lighting. The energy savings that are
realised from the retrofit project directly lead to reduced energy costs,
meaning that the impact of energy cost increases on the revenue budget
should be reduced after taking account of the payback reductions. At the end
of the 25-year payback period, the revenue budget will be fully reinstated.

30.

The table below outlines the invest to save payback:

Year of Project

2019/20 (actual) + 2020/21
Projected
2020/21 Adjustment +
2021/22 Projected
2022/23 Estimated

Page 72

Capital
Spend
£
1,276,689

3,271,901

Budget
Repayment Timeline
Reduction
£
73,318
Budget reduced in 21/22 for 25
years (ends 46/47)
Budget reduced In 22/23 for 25
272,257
years (ends 47/48)
Budget reduced in 23/24 for 25
187,898
years (ends 48/49)

9,289,446

533,473

4,740,856

Conclusion
31.

Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee
note the report and its contents.

32.

The project is planned to be completed in the original 3-year programme.

33.

The invest to save payback will be reprofiled to reflect the actual delivery
programme throughout the project.

34.

Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee
to receive an end of project report in 2023 at the conclusion of the project.

Background papers
•

None

Other useful documents
• None

Contact:

Mark Readman – Highway
Services Manager
Paul Watson – Strategic
Highways Manager

Tel: 03000 269261

Tel: 03000 268166

Page 73

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Durham County Council, as the local Highway Authority, has a statutory duty
under the Highways Act 1980 to maintain the adopted highway at public
expense.

Finance
As detailed in the report.

Consultation
Public consultation undertaken on the updated Street Lighting Policy

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Climate Change
Delivery of the SLERP project contributes to the councils declaration of a
climate emergency in respect of energy and carbon reduction through the
installation of LED units,

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None

Staffing
SLERP II is delivered by the Council’s in-house Highway Services team
supported by a supply chain of competitively procured external sub-contractors.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
None.

Procurement
External sub-contractors are procured through a competitive tendering process
which is reviewed on a regular basis to ensure value for money is achieved.

Page 74

Lighting units are purchased through a local company following a competitive
procurement exercise.

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2

Page 77

Page 78

Page 79

Page 80

Page 81

Page 82

Page 83

Page 84

Appendix 3

Cabinet
10 July 2019
Street Lighting Energy Reduction
Project – End Project Report

Report of Corporate Management Team
Ian Thompson, Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local
Services
Councillor Brian Stephens, Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods
and Local Partnerships
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide Cabinet with an end project report on the Street Lighting
Energy Reduction Project.

Executive summary
2

The end project report summarises the performance of this 6 year
“invest to save” project which started in June 2013 and was completed
in March 2019.

3

The project scope has changed to include more LED retrofits and less
removals whilst exceeding the savings planned in the original business
case.

4

The project has achieved a 69.57% reduction in annual energy
consumption which is saving 8,413 tonnes in carbon emissions. The
project has been the biggest single contributor to date to the Council’s
reduction in carbon emissions.

5

The project has invested in the Council’s highway infrastructure whilst
contributing significant savings to the Council’s Medium Term Financial
Plan.

Page 85

Recommendations
6

Cabinet are asked to:
(a)

note the content of the report; and

(b)

approve the development of a business case for further street
lighting energy reductions.

Background
7

Cabinet approved the original business case for this 6 year “invest to
save” project on 12 December 2012. The project involved:




retrofit of existing street lights with more energy efficient LED
street lights;
removal of street lights not required by the Street Lighting Policy
where it is safe to do so; and
de-illumination of signs where permitted under Department for
Transport regulations.

8

The Street Lighting Policy which facilitates the removal of street lights
was approved by Cabinet on 20 November 2013 following extensive
public consultation.

9

An update report on the project was provided to Cabinet on 21 October
2015.

Main implications
Scope
10

The project scope is summarised as follows:

Measure
Street Lighting LED Retrofits
Street Lighting Removals
Bollard Retrofits
Pedestrian Crossing Retrofits
Traffic Signal Retrofits
De-illumination of Signs
11

Revised
21 October
2015
55,000
3,000
0
0
0
942

The project scope has been reviewed and amended to reflect:


Page 86

Original
12 December
2012
41,412
7,000
28
34
2,991
942

improvements in LED cost and performance;

Final
31 March
2019
59,881
2,151
0
0
0
1,168




revised estimate for street lighting removals based on detailed
risk assessments; and
revised estimate for retrofit of bollards, pedestrian crossings and
traffic signals based on updated invest to save appraisal.

12

The revised scope remains within the approved capital budget and has
exceeded the planned savings in the original business case.

13

All works have been delivered by the Council’s in-house provider,
Highway Services, with support from their supply chain of external subcontractors.

14

In recognition of the excellent work undertaken by all of the Council’s
street lighting staff, they were presented with an Inspiring People Award
at Meadowfield Depot on 3 May 2019. Please see the photograph
below:

Street Lighting LED Retrofits
15

Retrofits commenced in June 2013 and have been undertaken across
the county.

16

The Council has led the development of regional procurement
frameworks for the supply of LED street lights through the North East
Highways Alliance.

Page 87

Street Lighting Removals
17

The Council only removed street lights that are not required by the
Street Lighting Policy where it was safe to do so. The Council
commissioned independent Road Safety Auditors to carry out robust
risk assessments.

18

The risk assessment identified any potential hazards to highway users
and considered if and how these can be mitigated. If the risk
assessment identified any significant road safety issues that could not
be mitigated then the Council did not proceed with the removal.

19

The robustness of the process is reinforced by the fact that 33.6% of all
proposed removals assessed did not progress due to issues identified
in the risk assessment by the independent Road Safety Auditors that
could not be mitigated.

20

Some of the removal schemes that did progress met with opposition
during the consultation process (with local Members, Town Councils
and Parish Councils) and officers attended meetings to discuss the
concerns raised. However, in all cases the risk assessments proved to
be robust.

21

The Council offered Town and Parish Councils a service level
agreement to retain street lights in their areas on a fully funded basis
where they expressed concerns about their removal. The following
Town and Parish Councils have agreed 10 year service level
agreements to retain street lights in their areas:
Town/Parish Council
Great Aycliffe Town Council
Ferryhill Town Council
Chilton Town Council
Stanhope Parish Council
Waldridge Parish Council
Trimdon Parish Council
Seaham Town Council
Little Lumley Parish Council
Great Lumley Parish Council
Middridge Parish Council
Thornley Parish Council
Total

Page 88

Number of Street Lights
83
37
45
33
23
15
24
3
10
10
2
285

22

Brandon and Byshottles Parish Council have recently requested a
service level agreement to reinstate the street lights removed on
Brandon Lane and this is in the process of being finalised.

23

At the end of the 10 year service level agreements the Town and Parish
Councils will have the option to renew the service level agreements. If
the service level agreements are not renewed then the street lights will
be removed subject to an updated risk assessment confirming that it is
safe to remove the street lights.

24

The risk assessment process and consultation took longer than
originally envisaged in the Business Case due to the in depth work and
extensive consultation required as described above. However, this was
mitigated by the acceleration and increase in LED retrofits.

Retrofit of Bollards, Pedestrian Crossings and Traffic Signals
25

These retrofits did not progress because the detailed design process
identified that additional works were required. The extra cost of these
works meant that these retrofits no longer met the ‘invest to save’
criteria.

Financial Performance
26

The table below measures the cumulative financial performance of the
project compared to the original business case at 31 March 2019:
Description

Capital Expenditure - Total
Capital Repayments - Annualised
Gross Revenue Saving - Annualised
MTFP Saving - Annualised

Business
Case
12 December
2012
£’000s
22,552
-1,746
2,635
N/A

Actual
31 March
2019
£’000s
22,532
-1,567
2,871
-916

27

The additional retrofits and their better performance than originally
assumed mitigated the slippage in removals.

28

This project invested in the Council’s highway infrastructure whilst
contributing significant savings towards the Medium Term Financial
Plan.

Energy and Carbon Reduction Performance

Page 89

29

The table below measures the energy and carbon reduction achieved
compared to the original business case at 31 March 2019:
Per
Annum
Energy
reduction
(KwH)
Carbon
reduction
(CO2
tonnes)

Business
Case
12 December
2012
13,808,612

Actual Difference Difference
31 March
%
2019
16,948,934

3,140,322

22.7%

7,512

8,413

901

11.9%

30

It can be seen that actual energy and carbon savings exceed the
business case target.

31

The Council’s baseline carbon emissions at 2008/09 were 105,816
tonnes per annum. The carbon savings from this project of 8,413
tonnes per annum represent a reduction of 7.95% in the Council’s
baseline carbon emissions which makes this project the biggest single
contributor to the council’s reduction in carbon emissions to date.

Customer Feedback
32

Customer feedback to 31 March 2019 is summarised as follows:
Customer Feedback
General queries/ requests for information
Formal Complaints
Compliments

Type
1,236
72
16

33

The retrofits have affected approximately 175,000 households. This
level of customer feedback is typical of street lighting schemes
nationwide. The number of formal complaints represents 0.04% of the
affected households.

34

One complaint about removals progressed to the Local Government
and Social Care Ombudsman who found no fault with the Street
Lighting Policy or the process for removals.

Street Lighting Retrofits
35

Page 90

The new energy efficient LED street lights are a significant change from
the old street lights that they replace. The main differences are:



36

LEDs provide white light which provides better colour rendition
compared to the old yellow lights; and
LEDs have better control than the old yellow lights and therefore
reduce light spillage onto homes and gardens.

Please see the photographs detailed below which illustrate the
differences:

Before:

After:

Page 91

From Above:

37

The photograph above was taken using a drone in Easington midway
through the project and highlights the difference between the new LED
street lights and some existing yellow (high and low pressure sodium)
street lights some of which were subsequently retrofitted with new LED
street lights.

38

It took a few weeks for some residents to get used to the new LED
street lights but generally they have been well received by the public.

39

Most of the general queries / requests for further information have been
in relation to the reduction of light spillage onto homes and gardens.
Once it is explained that street lighting is only supposed to light the
highway and the savings achieved from energy reduction most
customers are accepting of this.

40

We developed an escalation process for persistent complaints that
involved desktop design checks and on site light meter testing. These
checks have proved that the new LED street lights meet and exceed the
relevant British Standard whereas in most cases the old lights did not.

Research
41

A study led by the London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine has
concluded that there is no evidence of an association between reduced
street lighting (i.e. retrofits, removals and dimming) and:



42

Page 92

increased crime; and
night time road traffic collisions.

This is in line with previous research commissioned by the Department
for Transport and helps reinforce that the measures introduced as part
of the Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project are safe.

Column Replacement
43

In addition to the Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project, the Council
has a significant programme of replacing life expired columns.

Future Plans
44

The Council declared a climate change emergency on 20 February
2019 and has requested that a report is submitted to the meeting of Full
Council that is scheduled to take place on 17 July 2019 detailing how
ambitious new targets for carbon reductions will be met.

45

The Council has 83,043 street lights of which 59,881 have been
retrofitted with energy efficient LEDs as part of this project and a further
310 installed as part of trials, new developments and highway
improvement schemes. The Council is developing an invest to save
business case for the remaining 22,852 street lights that are not
currently LED to be converted to LED. Not all will be suitable for LED
due to the spacing of columns but it is expected that approximately
15,000 will be suitable.

46

This project has the potential to deliver further CO2 reductions of up to
3,000 tonnes per annum and supports the Council’s Climate Change
Response Plan.

47

Some of the remaining street lights suitable for retrofit will be in the
County Durham boundary of the North Pennine Area of Natural Beauty
(AONB) which has aspirations to achieve International Dark Sky
Reserve status. The Council is committed to supporting this initiative by
ensuring that any LED retrofits minimise light pollution.

48

If the business case is viable and approved by Cabinet, it is expected
that works would be undertaken over 3 years from 2020/21 to 2022/23.

Conclusion
49

The Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project has retrofitted a large
proportion of the Council’s street lights with new energy efficient LEDs.
A small number of street lights have also been removed where not
required by the council’s Street lighting Policy when it was safe to do so.

50

This investment has met and exceeded the financial savings anticipated
in the original business case. The project has also been the biggest
single contributor to date to the Council’s reduction in carbon emissions.

Page 93

Appendices


Appendix 1: Implications

Background papers


Cabinet Report : Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project dated
12 December 2012



Cabinet Report : Street Lighting Policy dated 20 November 2013



Cabinet Report : Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project –
Update dated 21 October 2015



Street Lighting Policy – updated by Delegated Decision dated 2
March 2017

Other useful documents


Contact:

Page 94

None

John Reed

Tel: 03000 267454

[Forename Surname]

Tel: 03000 XXXXXX

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
None.

Finance
Please see paragraph 25 of the report.

Consultation
There was a public consultation on the updated Street Lighting Policy. A
consultation exercise was also undertaken on every proposed street light
removal with local Councillors and the relevant Town/Parish Councils.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) was completed for the street lighting
policy and reviewed in line with the review of the policy. The
recommendations of the EIA were incorporated into the project delivery
process.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
The works were delivered by the Council’s in-house provider, Highway
Services, supported by its supply chain of competitively procured subcontractors.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
None.

Procurement
LED street lights were procured competitively via regional frameworks led by
the Council.

Page 95

The works were being delivered by the Council’s in-house provider, Highway
Services, supported by its supply chain of competitively procured subcontractors.

Page 96

Street Lighting Energy Reduction Project (SLERP)
Update

Agenda Item 7b

Page 97

Environment and Sustainable Communities Overview
and Scrutiny Committee
16 May 2022

Page 98

Introduction
▪ Current street lighting inventory:
- 83,676 street lights
- 5,737 illuminated signs, bollards, beacons
▪ “Invest to Save” SLERP project financed from energy
and maintenance cost savings delivered as 2 SLERP
schemes
▪ Delivery:
- In-house street lighting team
- External sub-contractors
- Collaborative regional procurement of LEDs

Street Lighting Policy
▪ Updated November 2013 to facilitate the SLERP
▪ Full public consultation
▪ Light to the minimum British Standard
▪ Remove street lights not required where safe to
do so
▪ Dimming
- 25% between 10 pm and 12 am
- 50% between 12 am and 5 am
Page 99

Page 100

Scope – Phase 1
Retrofit street
lights with LEDs
De-illuminate
signs
Remove street
lights

Original

Revised
21.10.15

Completed
@ 31.3.19

Outstanding
@ 31.3.19

41,412

55,000

59,881

0

942

942

1,168

0

7,000

3,000

2,151

8

▪ Investment appraisal undertaken on every type of asset
▪ Only proceeded where invest to save criteria met

Timetable – Phase 1
▪ Business case approved by Cabinet 12
December 2012
▪ Retrofits commenced June 2013
▪ Street Lighting Policy approved by Cabinet 20
November 2013
▪ Removals commenced January 2014
▪ Project completion 31 March 2019

Page 101

Page 102

Financial Performance
Business
Case
£’000

Actual
£’000

22,552

22,532

Gross Revenue Saving Per Annum

2,635

2,871

Capital Repayments Per Annum

1,746

1,567

Capital Expenditure

▪ Project Internal Rate of Return - Nominal 13.17%
▪ Net revenue savings being used to meet Medium Term
Financial Plan savings required

Benefits
▪ Energy reduction 13,808,612 KwH per annum
▪ Carbon reduction 7,512 tonnes per annum (7%
reduction in total Council emissions)
▪ Better quality white light
▪ Reduction in light pollution
▪ Maintenance savings
▪ Investment in highway infrastructure – reduce
lifecycle replacement costs
Page 103

Page 104

Key Issues – Removals (1)
▪ Only removed street lights that were not required by the
Street Lighting Policy where it was safe to do so
▪ No removals in residential areas, roundabouts, major
junctions or where there were proven road safety and crime
issues
▪ Commissioned independent road safety auditors to
undertake risk assessments

Key Issues – Removals (2)
▪ If risk assessment identified any significant road safety
issues that could not be mitigated then did not
proceed with removal
▪ Consultation with local Members and Town/Parish
Councils to ensure that risk assessment reflected all
relevant factors
▪ Some removals attracted opposition
▪ Offered Service Level Agreements to Town/Parish
Councils and developers to retain the lights on a fully
funded basis
Page 105

Page 106

Key Issues – LED Retrofits (1)
▪ Large spacings between some columns
▪ Strived to get as close as reasonably practicable to the
British Standard
▪ Fixed dimming drivers
▪ Additional weight/ windage of LED lanterns
▪ LEDs are a significant change from the old lights they
replace:
- White light, better colour rendition
- Better control, reduce light spillage onto homes
and gardens

Key Issues – LED Retrofits (2)
▪ Took a few weeks for residents to get used to LEDs and
reduction in light spillage
▪ Generally well received by the public
▪ Escalation process for complaints:
- Desktop design checks
- On site light meter testing

Page 107

Page 108

Before

After

Page 109

Page 110

From Above

SLERP Phase II
▪ Council declared a climate change emergency on 20 February 2019
▪ 22,860 street lights are not currently LED
▪ Not all suitable to retrofit – spacings/ lantern styles
▪ Invest to Save Business Case developed and approved
▪ Report to Cabinet 11 December 2019 to commence with SLERP II

Page 111

Page 112

Phase 2 - Scope
Apparatus Type
Non-LED Lights within the
Environmental Zone E1
Non-LED Heritage Style
Luminaires
Non-LED Subway Units
Non-LED Lights in
conjunction with column
replacement programme
Non-LED Standard Style
Luminaires
Non-LED, Non-Standard
Style Luminaires
Total

Existing
Units

Removals

Retrofit

330

0

281

737

0

588

273

0

214

1,037

0

1,037

20,180

8

15,208

295

0

0

22,852

8

17,328

Phase 2 - Delivery
▪ Procurement exercise appointed a “one-stop-shop” luminaire provider
▪ Highway Services undertaking the design and installation with support from
their supply chain of external sub-contractors
▪ The project delivered over 3 years from 2020/21 to 2022/23

Page 113

Page 114

Phase 2 – Projected Outcome
▪ Reduction in electricity consumption of 54% for the in scope apparatus
▪ Reduction in carbon emissions of 1,300 tonnes per annum for the in-scope
apparatus
▪ Average Annual Revenue Savings over a 25 year period @ £1.2m

SLERP II Update
Year

Target Installs

2020/2021

4,618

Completed /
Projected Installs
1,986

2021/2022

9,207

7,394

2022/2023

(6,575 + 2,632
carryover)
7,948

Projected 7,948

Project planned to
complete on target

Project Duration 3
Years

Anticipate
completing on time

(6,135 + 1,813
carryover)
Project Total 17,328

Year End Position

Under achieved by
2,632
Projected under
achievement of
1,813

Page 115

Page 116

SLERP II Update
• Year 2 cumulative energy savings = 2,554,939 kWh’s
• Year 2 cumulative CO2 savings = 584 tonnes
• Year 2 cumulative savings = £337,852
• Year 3 targets ambitious

Thank you - Any
Questions?

Page 117

Page 118

Contact Details
Darren Hubbard
Street Lighting Manager
Durham County Council
County Hall
Durham
DH1 5UQ
Email: darren.hubbard@durham.gov.uk
Tel: 03000 268113

